IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF NEVADA

JACK GAAL, an individual; and JACK'S PLACE BAR AND GRILL LLC,

Supreme Court No.: **Blettronically Filed** Feb 07 2022 10:23 a.m.

Case No. A-18-776982H2abeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Department XXVII

Appellants,

VS.

LAS VEGAS 101 INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION DOING BUSINESS AS FIRST CHOICE BUSINESS BROKERS, LAS VEGAS 101,

Respondents.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Nancy Alf, District Judge
D.C. Case No. A-18-776982-C

APPELLANT OPENING BRIEF

DAVID J. WINTERTON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 4142 DAVID J. WINTERTON & ASSOC., LTD. 7881 West Charleston Boulevard, Suite 220 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

I.	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT			
II.	ROUTING STATEMENT			
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS			
VI.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT4			
VII.	ARGUMENT			
	1.		6	
	2.		7	
	3.		8	
	4.		. 14	
	5.		. 17	
	6.		. 19	
	7.		. 20	
	8.		. 21	
	9.		. 24	
	10.		. 24	
	11.		. 25	
VIII	CON	ICLUSION	26	

Table of Authorities

CASES:

Bangle v. Holland Realty Investment Company, 80 Nev. 331, 335-36, 393 P.2d 138,
<u>140 (1964)</u>
Boutelle v. Chrislaw, 150 N.W.2d 486, 492 (Wis. 1967)
Caldwell v. Consol. Realty & Mgmt. Co., 99 Nev. 635, 638, 668 P.2d 284, 286
<u>(1983)</u>
Capanna v. Orth, 134 Nev. 888, 894, 432 P.3d 726, 733 (2018)
<u>Clarkin v. Reimann, 638 P.2d 857, 863 (Hawaii App. 1981)</u>
<u>Close v. Redelius,67 Nev. 158, 215 P.2d 659.</u>
<u>Cord v. Neuhoff, 94 Nev. 21, 573 P.2d 1170 (1978)</u>
<u>Di Gregorio v. Marcus, 86 Nev. 674, 677, 475 P.2d 97, 99 (1970)</u>
Elbinger Co. v. Meyer Mfg. Co., 3 Wis.2d 202, 87 N.W.2d 807)
Gifford v. Straub,172 Wis. 395, 179 N.W. 600
<u>Ivanhoe v. Strout Realty,90 Nev. 380, 528 P.2d 700 (1974)</u>
<u>LedMil of Nev. v. Skyland Realty & Ins.</u> 90 Nev. 72, 73, 518 P.2d 606, 608 (1974)
McCartney v. Malm,627 P.2d 1014, 1020 (Wyo. 1981)
McKay v. Bd. of Supervisors, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986) 19
Morgan v. Golder, 446 P.2d 948, 949 (Ariz.App. 1968)
Morrow v. Barger, 103 Nev. 247, 250 n.1, 737 P.2d 1153, 1155 (1987)
Nollner v. Thomas, 91 Nev. 203, 207, 533 P.2d 478, 480-81 (1975)
Redfield v. Estate of Redfield, 101 Nev. 24, 27, 692 P.2d 1294 (1985)
Reese v. Utter,92 Nev. 377, 379, 551 P.2d 1099, 1100 (1976)
Robert E. v. Justice Court, 99 Nev. 443, 664 P.2d 957 (1983)
<u>Sherman Agency v. Carey, 577 P.2d 759, 761 (Colo. 1978)</u>
Sherman Agency v. Carey, 577 P.2d 759, 761 (Colo. 1978) 22 Summa Corp. v. DeSure Corp.,103 Nev. 144, 147, 734 P.2d 715, 717 (1987) 20

STATUTES:	
NRS 645.320	5,7,8,9,11,12,13,14,15,16,17,18,19,26
NRS A 1995, 2075;2003,932	
NRS 645.009	
NRS 645.252(1)(a)	
NRS § 47.130	
NRS 645	
RULES:	
NRAP 3A(b)(1)	
NRAP 17(b)(6)	
NRCP 26(e)(1)	
NRCP 16.1	
NRCP 37(C)(1)	
NRCP 16.1(e)(3)(B)	
TREATISES:	
Restatement, Agency, 2d § 468(2)	
Annot., 41 A.L.R. 2d 905; § 355(3)	
Restatement, Contracts § 355(3)	

IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF NEVADA

JACK GAAL, an individual; and JACK'S PLACE BAR AND GRILL LLC,

Appellants,

VS.

LAS VEGAS 101 INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION DOING BUSINESS AS FIRST CHOICE BUSINESS BROKERS, LAS VEGAS 101,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No.: 83133

Case No. A-18-776982-C

Department XXVII

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Nancy Alf, District Judge D.C. Case No. A-18-776982-C

APPELLANT OPENING BRIEF

DAVID J. WINTERTON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 4142 DAVID J. WINTERTON & ASSOC., LTD. 7881 West Charleston Boulevard, Suite 220 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Attorneys for Appellants

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

An appeal was taken from a final order in the Eighth Judicial District Court in Clark County, Nevada. The appeal was taken pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on June 21, 2021 (AA, Vol. 1, 28). The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 23, 2021(AA, Vol. 1, 37). It was an appeal from a final order entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment was rendered so this court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal deals with a contract dispute over \$75,000.00 and is presumptively not assigned to the Court of Appeals. Under NRAP 17(b)(6), it states that any contract dispute less than \$75,000.00 are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. This is a contract dispute regarding an Exclusive Listing Agreement in the amount of \$212,725.00; therefore, the presumption does not arise. This case also deals with the interpretation of the Nevada Revised Statutes, (NRS 645.320) which could affect all real estate commissions in the State of Nevada.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether or not the elements of NRS 645.320 were met.
- 2. Whether or not a Realtor can circumvent NRS 645.320 by stating they are guaranteed a commission when the owner of the real property never signed a Listing Agreement nor an Asset Purchase Agreement. (Can you contract around the statute?)

- 3. Whether or not the Realtor is barred from receiving a commission for failing to comply with NRS 645.320.
- 4. Whether or not the Court erred by not taking Judicial Notice of the ownership of the real property when the records of the county were provided to the court.
- 5. Whether or not the Listing Agreement and the Asset Purchase Agreement were ambiguous and the interpretation by the court was incorrect.
- 6. Whether or not there is a ready, willing, and able buyer when the buyer could not get 100% financing as per the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement.
- 7. Whether or not the court erred by not allowing the Realtor Gene Northup to testify.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about a real estate broker seeking a real estate commission pursuant to NRS 645. 320. A lawsuit was filed on June 29, 2018. There are only two claims; a claim for breach of contract, and a claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Discovery was conducted in the case. The trial commenced on June 4, 2021. At the end of the trial, the court granted a judgment in favor of the Plaintiff/Broker in the amount of \$212,725.70. This case was timely appealed on June 23, 2021(AA Vol.1, 43). Appellant Appendix is referenced as ("AA") and referenced throughout the brief.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Appellant is the owner of a business known as Jack's Place Bar and Grill, LLC ("Business"). Jack Gaal is the managing member of the Business. The Business

rents the building in which it operates from an entity known as the "John A. Gaal Family Trust," an irrevocable trust ("Trust"). There are two trustee's of the Trust, Jack Gaal and Kathrine Gaal. Both trustees are required under the terms of the Trust Agreement to sign to any documents to sell any real property owned by the Trust (AA, Vol 3, 433). The land and building owned by the Trust is located at 544 Nevada Highway, Boulder City, Nevada 89005 ("Real Property").

On October 9, 2017, the <u>Business only</u> signed an Exclusive Right To Sell Listing Agreement with the First Choice Business Brokers ("Broker") to sell the Business (AA, Vol 1, 78). The Broker never entered into an Exclusive Right to Sell Listing Agreement with the Trust to sell the Real Property (AA, Vol 1, 78). The Broker errored by not listing the Real Property. The error was pointed out to the Broker but the Broker did not want correct the error because he was afraid that the owners of the Business would not want to sign a new Exclusive Listing Agreement (AA, Vol 2, 323:15-19). The Broker found a buyer for the Business and the Real Property.

The Trust that owned the Real Property, never entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with the potential buyer (AA, Vol 1, 66). There was also an issue as to whether or not the potential buyer could even qualify for a loan to acquire the Real Property. The deal did not go forward due to the errors of the Broker's Agent and other factors. The Broker sued for a commission. The District Court granted a Judgment in favor of the Broker for a commission, fees, and costs under NRS 645.320 in the amount of \$212,725.00. (AA, Vol 1, 43) This commission included a sale of the Business and the Real Property.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case deals with an Exclusive Right to Sell Listing Agreement under NRS 645.320. There are four (4) requirements to obtain an Exclusive Right to Sell Agreement pursuant to NRS 645.320. They are as follows: (1) Be in writing; (2) Have set forth in its terms a definite, specified and complete termination; (3) Contain no provision which requires the client who signs the brokerage agreement to notify the real estate broker of the client's intention to cancel the exclusive features of the brokerage agreement after the termination of the brokerage agreement; (4) the agreement must be signed by both the client or his or her authorized representative and the broker or his or her authorized representative in order to be enforceable.¹

The Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320 (1), (2), and (4); thus, the Broker is not entitled to a commission. First under NRS 645.320 (1), there is no written contract to sell the Real Property with the owner of the land and building. The evidence that the Broker is not entitled to a commission is based upon the Exclusive Listing Agreement presented to the court and the testimony of the Broker, the Agent, and the Trustee of the Trust. The Trust is not a party to the Exclusive Listing Agreement. The Broker, the Agent, and the Trustee of the Trust all admit that the Trust owns the Real Property and that the Trust never signed the Exclusive Listing Agreement.

Second, the Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320 (2) in that the terms and conditions are not clear and definite. It did not properly identify the parties. It did not

¹See NRS 645.320.

have a clear description of the property being sold. It did not cover if there were any contingencies, items to be included, title of the property and so on.

Third, the Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320 (4). The Trust that owns the Real Property never signed the Exclusive Listing Agreement. The evidence of this is established by the Exclusive Listing Agreement document presented to the court and the testimony of the Broker, Agent and Trustee of the Trust. They all admit that the owner of the Real Property never signed the Exclusive Listing Agreement.

Since the Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320, the Broker is not entitled to a commission and the judgment must be reversed. NRS 645.320 acts as a Statute of Frauds and the statute bars any rights to receive a commission. The Plaintiff/Appellee argues and the District Court ruled that the principle signed a personal guarantee and the individual is liable under the guarantee. This argument circumvents NRS 645.320 and renders the statue unenforceable, so their argument must fail.

The District Court relied upon the Asset Purchase Agreement to grant the judgment. The right to determine if a real estate commission is due is limited to the Exclusive Listing Agreement and not to the Asset Purchase Agreement. The Realtor did not act with reasonable care or this issue would not have come up. The evidence also establishes that the commission is not owed until the transaction closed. In this case the transaction has never closed. The Broker never provided any evidence to establish that he did in fact, obtain a ready, willing, and able buyer for the Real Property.

There are also some procedural issues such as the failure to take judicial notice

of the title to the real property and excluding a witness that are also discussed.

VII. ARGUMENT:

This Case is About an Exclusive Agency Agreement Under NRS 645. 320

This case is about an exclusive agency agreement under NRS 645.320. First

Choice Business Brokers ("Broker") sued Jack Gaal individually and Jack' Place Bar and Grill for a real estate commission under an Exclusive Right to Sell Listing

Agreement (Exclusive Listing Agreement) pursuant to NRS 645.320. The Broker entered in to Exclusive Listing Agreement with the Business. The Broker did not enter into a Exclusive Listing Agreement with the Trust to sell the Real Property. The Broker did not name the Trust in the Exclusive Listing Agreement and the Broker did not have the Trust sign the Exclusive Listing Agreement. The Broker sued for a commission for a potential sale of the Business and the Real Property even though the Broker did not have a properly signed Exclusive Listing Agreement. The District Court granted a judgment in favor of the Broker for a real estate commission under NRS 645.320 for the Business and the Real Property even though there was no contract with the Trust to list the Real Property. This appeal was then filed because the Appellants believe there is no commission due pursuant to NRS 645.320.

There were only two causes of action filed against the Defendants/Appellants.

The first cause of action was for Breach of Contract (Exclusive Listing Agreement)

and the second cause of action was for Breach of the implied Covenant of Good Faith

and Fair Dealing of the Exclusive Listing Agreement. There is no claim for fraud,

concealment, misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, or quantum merit. This case is strictly about an Exclusive Listing Agreement under NRS 645.320.

2. NRS 645.320 Outlines Four (4) Requirements That Must be Met in a Brokerage Agreement to Establish a Valid Exclusive Agency Agreement.

NRS 645.320 outlines four (4) requirements for an Exclusive Agency

Agreement. If the broker does not meet the four (4) requirements, the broker is not entitled to a commission. The statute reads as follows:

NRS 645.320 Requirements for exclusive agency representation. Every brokerage agreement which includes a provision for an exclusive agency representation must:

- 1. Be in writing.
- 2. Have set forth in its terms a definite, specified and complete termination.
- 3. Contain no provision which requires the client who signs the brokerage agreement to notify the real estate broker of the client's intention to cancel the exclusive features of the brokerage agreement after the termination of the brokerage agreement.
- 4. Be signed by both the client or his or her authorized representative and the broker or his or her authorized representative in order to be enforceable.

[28.5:150:1947; added 1955, 18] — (NRS A 1995, 2075; 2003, 932)

The Broker at trial, has the burden of proof to establish that the elements have

been met.

3. The Judgment by the District Court Must be Reversed Because the Broker Failed to Comply with NRS 645.320 (1), (2), and (4); and Thus, the Broker is Not Entitled to a Commission.

Th Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320(1), (2), and (4); thus, the Broker is not entitled to a commission and the judgment must be reversed. As you review the exhibits and the transcripts of the witnesses, you will not find any evidence that the Broker complied with all of the above requirements of an Exclusive Listing Agreement under NRS 645.320.

The Broker sued for breach of contract of the Exclusive Listing Agreement and for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing of the Exclusive Listing Agreement. The District Court did not make any findings that there was a written contract with the owner of the Real Property pursuant to the requirements of NRS 645.320. If the Trust, the owners of the Real Property, never signed the Exclusive Listing Agreement, there can be no breach of contract nor breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing. There are no findings by the District Court to support the position that the Broker complied with NRS 645.320. The court erred by making the following Conclusions of Law.

3. The Exclusive Listing Agreement satisfies the requirements of NRS 645.320, and the statutory definition of "client" under NRS 645. (AA, Vol 1, 34:21).

This was an error by the District Court because the Broker failed to comply with

the 1, 2, and 4 requirements under NRS 645.320. The evidence is as follows:

<u>1.</u> Be in writing. (NRS 645.320 (1))

There is no written agreement between the Broker and the owner of the Real Property. The Property is owned by JOHN A. GAAL FAMILY TRUST ("Trust"). The Trust was NEVER a party to the Exclusive Listing Agreement due to the error of the Broker (AA, Vol 1, 78).

The best evidence is the Exclusive Listing Agreement itself. If you review the contract, you will note that the John A. Gaal Family Trust is NOT a party to the Exclusive Listing Agreement. (AA, Vol 1, 78). The Trust owns the Real Property and if the Trust is not a party to the Exclusive Listing Agreement, then there is no writing that would allow the Broker to sell and receive a commission.

There is no dispute that the Trust owns the Real Property (AA, Vol 2, 287:4-6). It is supported by oral testimony, written documents, and the fact that the Broker never even attempted to refute the ownership by the Trust. Mr. Gaal testified as follows:

- Q: What type of entity did they put the building in?
- A: The attorney that I was using to set up the LLC, okay, was doing all the paperwork that's required for a new business, okay. The land and the building just automatically went into my trust.
- Q: Okay. So when the land and the building went into the trust, has it changed since that time or is it still in the trust?

.

A: Nothing has changed.

(AA, Vol 3, 410:11-23)

The Broker knew or should have known the Real Property was owned by the Trust. The Broker should have checked with the tax assessor or the county recorder's office to determine who owned the Real Property. When the agent was asked what happened and why the paperwork was not done right, he states "I really don't know" (AA, Vol 2, 286:3-10).

Prior to obtaining a buyer for the Business and the Real Property, the Agent for the Broker obtained a copy of an appraisal on the Real Property (AA, Vol 1, 127). It identified who was the true owner of the Real Property. The appraisal was turned over to the Agent prior to entering into an Asset Purchase Agreement with a buyer. The evidence is as follows:

- Q: And what was the who was the entity or person that it was prepared for?

 [Appraisal]
- A: It was prepared for me. It says John A. Gaal and Katherine B. Gaal, trustees of the John A. Gaal Family Trust dated such and such.
- Q: Okay. And so it was prepared as on your behalf as trustees of the trust?
- A. That what it says on page 1.

(AA, Vol 3, 420:18).

The agent testified about the appraisal, and stated

- Q: Now we've been going though all of these document that were signed.

 Have you seen any documents signed by Jack Gall, trustee?
- A: No. Like I said, he represented himself as the authority sell and he never

even gave me any documents or you relating to any trust. (AA, Vol 2, 328:21).

<u>2.</u> The Agreement was Not Definite (NRS 645.320 (2))

The Listing Agreement is not Definite. It does not describe the terms and conditions that relate to the Real Property. It only relates to the sale of the Business (AA, Vol 1, 78). The Broker failed to comply with NRS 645.320 (2) in that the terms and conditions are not clear and definite. It did not properly identify the parties. It did not have a clear description of the property being sold. It did not cover if there would be contingencies, items to be included, title of the property and so on.

3. The Agreement was Never Signed by the Trust. (NRS 645.320 (3))

If you review the Exclusive Listing Agreement, you will note that it was never signed by the Trust that owns the Real Property (AA, Vol 1, 78). The <u>Broker</u> (Appellee), the Broker's <u>agent</u>, and the <u>Trustee</u> of the Trust all admit that the Exclusive Listing Agreement was not signed by the owner of the Real Property. The Broker is not entitled to a commission for failing to comply with NRS 645.320(4).

The evidence is clear that the John A. Gaal Family Trust owned the Real Property and that the Trustee of the Trust never signed the Exclusive Listing Agreement. A client is defined under NRS 645.009. The statute reads as follows:

NRS 645.009 "Client" defined. "Client" means a person who has entered into a brokerage agreement with a broker or a property management agreement with a broker. [NRS 645.009].

The owner of the Real Property never entered into and signed a brokerage

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