IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JACK GAAL, INDIVIDUALLY; AND JACK'S PLACE BAR AND GRILL LLC,

No. 83133

Electronically Filed

Elizabeth A. Brown

Mar 09 2022 08:47 a.m.

Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

LAS VEGAS 101, INC., Respondent.

RESPONDENT LAS VEGAS 101, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JONES LOVELOCK

Stephen A. Davis, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 14185 sdavis@joneslovelock.com Marta D. Kurshumova, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 14728 mkurshumova@joneslovelock,.com 6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C Las Vegas, NV 89119 Tel: (702) 805-8450 Fax: (702) 805-8451

> Attorneys for Respondent Las Vegas 101, Inc.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

¹¹⁶ AA Vol. 1 at 080 ¶ 26.

¹¹⁷ See id. at 78-83.

¹¹⁸ <u>Id.</u> at 079 ¶ 13(C).

C. <u>The District Court did not abuse its discretion in determining that certain</u> <u>evidence was inadmissible at trial; alternatively, the exclusion of this</u> <u>evidence is harmless.</u>

Appellants next assert that the District Court abused its discretion by: (1) not taking judicial notice of the ownership of the Premises; and (2) excluding Northup's testimony at trial. This Court reviews the District Court's admission or exclusion of evidence for an abuse of discretion. Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 52, 692 P.2d 503, 508 (1985). Thus, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the District Court unless the District Court's determination was manifestly wrong. Young v. Johnny Riberiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 779 (1990); Petrocelli, 101 Nev. at 52, 692 P.2d at 508. A District Court properly exercises its discretion where it gives appropriate, careful, correct, and express consideration of the factual and legal circumstances before it. Young, 106 Nev. at 93-94, 787 P.2d at 780. In other words, "[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." Leavitt v. Siems, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014).

But even if the District Court abused its discretion, if that decision to exclude evidence is harmless, then "reversal is not warranted." <u>Wyeth v. Rowatt</u>, 126 Nev. 446, 465, 244 P.3d 765, 778 (2010). An error is not harmless if—and only if—the improperly excluded evidence would have reasonably resulted in a different outcome at trial. <u>Id.</u> The entire record is reviewed to determine if the error is harmless. <u>Id.</u> Indeed, this Court will affirm the District Court's decision on any grounds supported by the record. <u>See Rosenstein v. Steele</u>, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987) On appeal, it is Appellants' burden to demonstrate that improperly excluded evidence would have reasonably resulted in a different outcome at trial. <u>See Dugan v. Gotsopoulos</u>, 117 Nev. 285, 22 P.3d 205 (2001); Grosjean v. Imperial Palace, Inc., 125 Nev. 349, 361, 212 P.3d 1068, 1077 (2009).

1. It was not an abuse of discretion to exclude Northup's testimony; alternatively, such exclusion was harmless.

Appellants argue that the District Court erred when it excluded Northup's testimony from trial.¹¹⁹ During trial, FCBB objected to Northup's testimony on the basis that Appellants failed to list Northup as a witness in their NRCP 16.1 disclosures until the day of discovery cutoff, thus depriving FCBB of any opportunity to conduct discovery regarding this witness.¹²⁰ Indeed, based on Appellants' arguments now, Appellants knew for the pendency of the action that Northup possessed relevant and admissible information in support of their alleged defenses, yet failed to disclose him as a witness on their initial or supplemental disclosures until the discovery cutoff deadline.¹²¹ FCBB was deprived of any opportunity to depose Northup or prepare through discovery for his anticipated

¹¹⁹ AOB at pp. 25-26.

¹²⁰ AA Vol. 3 at 399-400.

¹²¹ Id. at 400.

testimony at trial. FCBB requested the District Court to exclude his testimony from trial, which the District Court granted on the basis of Northup's late disclosure.¹²²

NRCP 16.1 requires that a party must, without awaiting a discovery request, disclose to the other parties, "the name and, if known, the address and telephone number of each individual likely to have information discoverable under Rule 26(b), including for impeachment or rebuttal, identifying the subjects of the information" within 14 days after the parties' Rule 16.1(b) conference (unless a different time is set by stipulation or court order). NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(A)(i); NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(C). "A party is under a duty to supplement at appropriate intervals its disclosures under Rule 16.1(a) . . . if the party learns that in some material respect the information disclosed is incomplete or incorrect and if the additional or corrective information has not otherwise been made known" NRCP 26(e)(1). "If a party fails to comply with the disclosure requirements of NRCP 16.1 or NRCP 26(e)(1), the party cannot use any witness or information not so disclosed unless the party shows a substantial justification for the failure to disclose or unless the failure is harmless. NRCP 37(c)(1); see also NRCP 16.1(e)(3)(B)." Capanna v. Orth, 134 Nev. 888, 894, 432 P.3d 726, 733 (2018) (citations in original).

Despite the fact that Appellants knew that Northup was likely to have discoverable information, Appellants failed to disclose him until January 18, 2020—

¹²² <u>Id.</u> at 399-402.

the discovery cutoff deadline.¹²³ But this action was filed on June 29, 2018, approximately 18 months earlier.¹²⁴ The Rule 16 Conference was held on June 5, 2019, a year after FCBB filed its complaint.¹²⁵ Appellants had approximately eighteen months to disclose Northup but failed to do so until the very last day of discovery. It was not an abuse of discretion for the Court to exclude Northup's testimony based on Appellants' untimely disclosure. *See* NRCP 37(c)(1) ("If a party fails to . . . identify a witness as required by Rule 16(a)(1) . . . the party is not allowed to use that information or witness to supply evidence . . . at trial).

While Appellants contend that <u>Capanna</u> stands for the proposition that the District Court abused its discretion when it excluded Northup's testimony,¹²⁶ it does not. In <u>Capanna</u>, the question presented was limited to whether an expert witness offering new information should have been allowed to testify when that information was not disclosed. <u>Capanna</u>, 134 Nev. at 894, 432 P.3d at 734. The Nevada Supreme Court determined that it could not determine if the trial court abused its discretion based upon the record before it, <u>id.</u>, 134 Nev. at 895, 432 P.3d at 734, *not that the district court actually abused its discretion*. <u>Id.</u> Thus, <u>Capanna</u> does not stand for the

¹²⁵ Id. at 2.

¹²³ <u>Id.</u> at 400.

¹²⁴ See RA at 1.

¹²⁶ AOB at p. 26.

proposition that the District Court, in this circumstance, abused its discretion in excluding Northup.

Appellants' decision to not disclose Northup until the eleventh hour and without any required subject or information he would give testimony on was neither substantially justified nor harmless. FCBB did not know Northup would testify at trial since Appellants also failed to make any pre-trial disclosures of witnesses pursuant to NRCP 16.1(a)(3).¹²⁷ There is no reason to not disclose a potential witness for over eighteen months. In fact, Appellants do not even contend in their Opening Brief that there was a justifiable reason for their untimely disclosure of Northrup.¹²⁸ They simply gloss over when he was disclosed and merely stated "[h]e was listed as a witness prior to the close of discovery."¹²⁹ But when pressed by the District Court, Appellants had to concede Northup was not timely named.¹³⁰ When he was disclosed and how he was disclosed (or not) is relevant as it formed the basis for the District Court's decision. Importantly, because Appellants failed to disclose Northrup until the very last day of discovery, FCBB could not depose Northup.¹³¹ In sum, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Northup's testimony at trial.

¹²⁷ AA Vol. 3 at 399-400; see RA at 12-13.

¹²⁸ AOB at pp. 25-26.

¹²⁹ <u>Id.</u> at p. 25.

¹³⁰ AA Vol. 3 at 402.

¹³¹ <u>Id.</u> at 400.

Moreover, the exclusion of Northup was harmless. When the District Court indicated its intent to exclude Northup as a witness at trial, the District Court offered Appellants' counsel the opportunity to make an offer of proof about his anticipated testimony. Appellants' counsel stated the following in response:

THE COURT: I'll let you make an offer of proof of what his testimony would have been.

MR. WINTERTON: Sure. Your Honor, basically what Mr. Northup would have testified is that he and Jack Gaal had a partnership and have done a work together. That Jack Gaal called him up and said, hey, could you sell the property, and he said, let me bring Phil Neuenswander in. He sells businesses. We will work together. We had a 40 percent contingency agreement that he would get 40 percent and Phil would get 60 percent. And he would also testify that when he looked at the contract, he will say he didn't see the initial -- he didn't read over the exclusive listing agreement. He says, when I looked over the original contract, I said -- he will testify it did not cover the real property. And that's basically what he would testify to.

So, for us it just reemphasize, but we'll be using Jack Gaal to cover all that information.¹³²

Appellants' offer of proof only confirms that that purpose of calling Northup to testify was to reemphasize and duplicate testimony to come from Gaal, not to adduce new evidence for the Court's consideration. In light of the fact that Appellants provided the very same testimony from Gaal, the decision to exclude Northup's (duplicative) testimony was harmless. Appellants consciously fail to argue how Northup's testimony would have introduced evidence that would change

¹³² <u>Id.</u> at 402 (emphasis added).

the outcome of this action in District Court and that is likely because Appellants know that Northup's testimony would not have changed the outcome of this action.¹³³ His testimony would have been merely duplicative and for repetitive emphasis as Appellants' counsel has conceded on the record.¹³⁴ Thus, any error the District Court committed in excluding Northup (there was none) here was harmless.

2. The District Court accepted that the Trust owned the Premises, so failure to take judicial notice of the Premises' owner is harmless.

Appellants next argue that the District Court committed reversable error by failing to take judicial notice of the Premises' owner, the Trust.¹³⁵ During trial, Appellants requested that the District Court take judicial notice of a tax record dated February 13, 2018, which was purportedly offered to show the true owner of the Premises.¹³⁶ FCBB objected to the particular proposed exhibit on a number of evidentiary grounds and the District Court declined to take judicial notice of the tax return.¹³⁷

NRS 47.150 provides that a "court shall take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary information." NRS 47.150(2). But, the District Court was not provided with the necessary information required to take judicial

¹³³ AOB at pp. 25-26.

¹³⁴ AA Vol. 3 at 402.

¹³⁵ AOB at pp. 24-25.

¹³⁶ AA Vol. 3 at 423-424.

¹³⁷ <u>Id.</u> at 424.

notice. First, there was no way to confirm whether the document was a complete document or that it came from the Assessor.¹³⁸ Without that necessary information, the Court was entitled to use its discretion and decline taking judicial notice of the tax return.

Even if the District Court did abuse its discretion, however, such an error was harmless. The District Court heard undisputed evidence from all parties that the Premises were owned by the Trust.¹³⁹ In fact, it was freely admitted to at trial that the Trust was the owner of the Premises:

[Mr. Winterton] Q: Did you make any effort to change the documents now that there was no question you knew that the trust owned the property?

[Philip] A: I had no reason to. Jack represented himself as the authorized seller over, and over, and over again.¹⁴⁰

Title ownership to the Premises was not a fact in dispute at trial. Further to this point, the District Court's FFCL are not based upon a finding of fact that the Trust was not the owner of the Premises.¹⁴¹ Rather, the District Court found that FCBB was entitled to rely upon Appellants' numerous representations that they had the authority to sell the Premises regardless of who was the title owner of the Premises.¹⁴² The District

- ¹⁴¹ See AA Vol. 1 at 23-27.
- ¹⁴² <u>Id.</u> at 25 at ¶¶ 9-10.

¹³⁸ Id. at 423-424.

¹³⁹ AA Vol. 2 at 258-260, 262-263, 279, 282-283, 322-323, 332-334; AA Vol. 3 at 433, 438.

¹⁴⁰ <u>Id.</u> at 438.

Court almost directly addresses Appellants' implied argument in its FFCL when it found: "Defendants attempting to raise arguments regarding potential improper vesting of a title deed is not sufficient to avoid performance or liability under either of the written contracts."¹⁴³

Even if the District Court would have taken judicial notice of the exhibit purporting to be a tax document, it would not have changed the outcome at trial because the District Court was apprised of and considered the fact that the Trust owned the Premises. Therefore, any error in declining to take judicial notice is harmless, and the Court should affirm the judgment.

3. To the extent that the District Court applied the Purchase Agreement to the Listing Agreement, those documents were interlinked by contractual terms, and any such error is harmless.

Appellants next argue that the District Court erred by not limiting its decision to only the Listing Agreement.¹⁴⁴ Similar to the previous issues in this section, Appellants fail to state how, exactly, the consideration of the Purchase Agreement by the District Court is not harmless and would mandate reversal.¹⁴⁵ Nor did Appellants provide any legal authority as to why the District Court should not have considered the Purchase Agreement.¹⁴⁶ Finally, the FFCL bases its determination of

¹⁴³ <u>Id.</u> at 25 at ¶ 13.

¹⁴⁴ AOB at pp. 20-21.

¹⁴⁵ Id.

 $^{^{146}}$ Id.

contractual obligations, breaches thereof, and damages resulting on the Listing Agreement.¹⁴⁷ While the Purchase Agreement is referenced in the FFCL, the District Court's breach of contract determination and the damages resulting thereof is based upon the Listing Agreement.¹⁴⁸ Thus, the issue is not cogently argued and/or any error is harmless.

Regardless, the District Court was correct in referencing both the Listing Agreement and the Purchasing Agreement because they are interlinked by contractual terms and incorporated by reference. For example, the Listing Agreement's paragraph 6 provides, in part:

All Fees owed to FCBB-101 . . . will be fully earned at the time of acceptance by Seller of any type of Purchase Agreement.¹⁴⁹

Thus, FCBB's Fees were earned once Appellants executed the Purchase Agreement as that constituted a "Disposition of the Business". This Court should affirm the District Court's finding that the Fees were earned by FCBB when Appellants executed the Purchase Agreement.

The Listing Agreement and the Purchase Agreement are thus interlinked. That makes sense given how these brokerage contracts and sell contracts are structured. First, the parties engage a broker to sell the property. Then, if a potential buyer is

¹⁴⁷ See AA Vol. 1 at 31-35 at Findings of Fact ¶¶ 2-5, 9, 11-12, 21, and Conclusions of Law at ¶¶ 1-3.

¹⁴⁸ See id. at 31-35.

¹⁴⁹ $\overline{\text{Id.}}$ at 32-33 ¶ 6.

found, then the buyer engages in direct negotiations with the seller. Once the buyer and the seller reach mutually agreeable terms, then a purchase agreement is executed, and additional obligations arise both in the Purchase Agreement and the Listing Agreement. For example, under the Listing Agreement, the obligation that the sellers will pay FCBB its fees arises when the Purchase Agreement is executed.¹⁵⁰ And under the Purchase Agreement, the sellers have 10 days to get due diligence documents to the buyer for his examination.¹⁵¹ The two agreements are interlinked, which the District Court implicitly acknowledged in its FFCL.¹⁵² And importantly—the District Court based its damages upon the Listing Agreement, not the Purchase Agreement. The District Court merely made findings of how the Listing Agreement and the Asset Agreement interlink, which is necessary to determine damages. That is not error.

D. <u>Appellants' remaining arguments are waived on appeal or are harmless</u> <u>error because those arguments were not properly raised in the District</u> <u>Court or at trial.</u>

Appellants then make several arguments that, they claim, warrant reversal.

Those arguments are: (1) the Listing Agreement and/or the Purchase Agreement

¹⁵⁰ <u>Id.</u> at 32-33 ¶ 6.

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